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                               Annexure I - Clarifications of vendo r’s queries on the Bid document.  

  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

1 3 2 SECTION - I 
INVITATION FOR BIDS 
(IFB): 
Indian Bank invites 
proposals (technical and 
commercial) for 
Outsourcing the 
Debit Card Management 
Services on pay per card 
basis for 3 years with the 
Following functionalities.  

Kindly clarify whether these 
services will be an 
outsourcing model by the 
service provider at 
infrastructure provided by 
the bank or by the service 
provider. 

Service provider has to arrange 
the infrastructure. Bank will 
provide the space for PIN 
mailer printing, PIN mailer 
dispatch and support services.   

2 3 3.1 SECTION – I 
INVITATION FOR BIDS 
(IFB) 
Functionalities required 
under the Debit Card 
Management Services 
are: 
1. Migration of data and 
records from the existing 
Debit Card management 
System (DCMS) supplied 
by M/s financial software 
and Systems Pvt Ltd. to 
the new Debit Card 
management System. 

What is the period of 
migration, volume of data 
(number as well as size of 
the database) to be 
migrated? 

Volume of data = 6.8 million 
records approximately. Please 
refer to RFP- Section V- Scope 
of work for time lines.  
 
 
 

3 3 3.3 SECTION - I 
INVITATION FOR BIDS 
(IFB) 
3. Procurement of Blank 
plastic cards, blank chip 
based smart cards, 
blank pin mailers, 
envelopes, card pouches 
and related stationeries 
to dispatch the same. 

The exact cost can be 
arrived only if the 
requirement is certain. Can 
the Bank be more specific on 
its requirement to the term 
RELATED STATIONARIES? 

Bank has provided the samples 
of all the related stationeries 
during pre-bid meeting. 

4 3 3.5 SECTION – I 
INVITATION FOR BIDS 
(IFB) 
5. Generation of PIN 
from HSM (Host Security 
Module), Printing the 
same in PIN mailers and 
dispatching the PIN 
mailers to the 
Authorized officials in 

Request the bank to provide 
the dispatch process to be 
adopted for personalized 
and non-personalized cards. 

For personalized cards, PIN 
mailer has to be dispatched to 
branches where card holder's 
accounts are maintained. For 
Non-personalized cards, PIN 
has to be dispatched to the 
CDPC (Centralized Data 
Processing centres). 
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                               Annexure I - Clarifications of vendo r’s queries on the Bid document.  

  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

bank branches. 

5 4 7 SECTION – I 
INVITATION FOR BIDS 
(IFB) 
7. The total price offer 
shall be inclusive of all 
costs to be charged, 
such as cost 
of issuing / Re-issuing 
cards, Printing PIN 
mailers and dispatching 
cards and PIN mailers to 
Branches, cost of 
software licenses, 
hardware, HSM etc. 

The RFP is for outsourcing 
of Debit Card Management 
Services. Why is the bidder 
expected to provide the cost 
of software license? Trust 
the bank is expecting the 
bidder to factor the cost of 
software licenses required 
by the bidder to provide the 
services. Kindly clarify. 

The bidder is expected to factor  
all costs involved.  

6 4 8 SECTION – I 
INVITATION FOR BIDS 
(IFB) 
8. Compliance with 
labour and tax laws, etc 
will be the responsibility 
of the vendor at his cost. 

While the vendor will comply 
with the labour laws 
wherever applicable, need to 
understand the tax 
compliance required. 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.    

7 8 3.7 SECTION – II 
INSTRUCTIONS TO 
BIDDERS 
3.7 The Bank reserves 
the right to customize the 
contract to meet its 
Requirements. 

1. This should be done 
based on mutual agreement. 
2. What is the scope of this 
requirement? If there is any 
cost implication, can it be 
worked out mutually? 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.    

8 9 5.1 Bid Security (Earnest 
Money Deposit): 
5.1 The Bidder shall 
furnish, as part of its bid, 
a bid security in the form 
of a Bank  Guarantee 
issued by a Scheduled 
Indian Bank or Foreign 
Bank 
located in India, in the 
form provided in the 
Bidding Documents for a 
sum of Rs.20,00,000/- 
(INR Twenty lakhs only) 

Request for a relaxation for 
the EMD amount to Rs. 
10,00,000/-(INR Ten Lakhs 
Only)  

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.    



3 

 

                               Annexure I - Clarifications of vendo r’s queries on the Bid document.  

  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

and valid for forty five 
days (45) days after the 
validity of the bid 
(Minimum of 225 days 
from the last date of 
submission of bid); 

9 11 12.2.2 Technical Evaluation: 
12.2.2 Bank reserves the 
right to demand the 
Bidder to arrange 
reference 
demonstrations, 
reference calls, site visits 
to selected customers, 
visits to development 
/support  centre, visits for 
benchmark tests for 
performance and 
scalability in vendor’s 
labs, etc. The Bank will 
bear the cost of such 
visits. 

Request the bank to provide 
intimation at least 15 – 20 
days in advance prior to the 
site visits and 4 – 5 days in 
advance to demonstrations 
and reference calls to make 
adequate arrangements. 

Bank will intimate the bidder in 
advance for site visits, 
reference calls and 
demonstrations. 
 

10 11 12.2.3 Technical Evaluation: 
12.2.3 Bidders will be 
asked to make 
presentations, if deemed 
necessary,  
at Indian Bank, Chennai. 
The presentations will be 
used by the Bank  
to clarify issues arising 
out of the Bidder’s 
response to this RFP. 

Request the bank to provide 
intimation at least 5 – 7 days 
in advance for presentations 
to make adequate 
arrangements. 

Bank will intimate the bidder in 
advance. 

11 12 12.3.2 Commercial evaluation: 
12.3.2 The bidder has to 
offer the “per card” price 
for issuing debit cards of 
different types in the 
proforma given as 
Annexure 14). Price A 
has got a weightage of 
0.65, price B has got a 
weightage of 0.30 and  
price C has got a 
weightage of 0.05. The 
total price will be 

1. The proportion for 
commercial evaluation 
mentioned in the text is 
different from the formula 
mentioned. Need clarity on 
the weightage to be used. 
 
2. As per the clause 
description in words, price B 
has a weightage of 0.34 and 
price C has a weightage of 
0.01 and as per the formula 
price B has a weightage of 

The RFP clause 12.3.2 in page 
nos. 11 - 12 is to be read as: 
 
The bidder has to offer the “per 
card” price for issuing debit 
cards      of different types in 
the proforma given as 
Annexure 14. Price A has got a 
weightage of 65 %, price B has 
got a weightage of 30 % and 
price C has got a weightage of 
5%. The total price  will be 
calculated using the following 
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  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

calculated using the 
following formula: 
Total Price = (0.65 x A) 
+ (0.30 x B) + (0.05 x C)  
The bidder with the 
lowest total price will be 
declared as the winner. 

0.30 and price C has a 
weightage of 0.05. 
 
There is a mismatch in the 
clause in words and the 
formula. Kindly clarify 
 

formula: 
 
Total price = (0.65 x A) + (0.30 
x B) + (0.05 x C) 
 
The bidder with the lowest total 
price will be declared as the 
winner. 
 
For All Line Items, the bidder 
should quote the actual cost 
of the line item. The 
weightage (%) calculation will 
be done by the Bank.  
 

12 12 12.3.3 Commercial evaluation: 
12.3.3 The prices A, B 
and C are inclusive of the 
costs towards various 
line items involved in the 
card personalisation and 
dispatch process. 
(Please refer Annexure 
14).Wherever the Bank is 
requiring only selected 
line items to be carried 
out; the payment will be 
made only for those line 
items.  (Example: 
Printing and dispatch of 
duplicate PIN mailer and 
Net Banking PIN mailers, 
Embossment of cards 
without photo etc.) 

The scope has to be clear as 
whether the vendor has to 
do all the work related to 
DCMS or only a certain part, 
as the cost and thereby the 
price for the same might 
differ.  
If there is discretion with the 
bank to take only certain line 
items, then there should be a 
clear line in response 
document that the price is for 
whole scope of card 
management services and 
the prices will change if the 
scope is increased/ 
decreased. 

Service provider has to do all 
the work related to DCMS. Line 
items are based on the Bank's 
requirement. 

13 12 15 Performance Security: 
On receipt of notification 
of award from the Bank, 
the successful Bidder 
shall furnish the 
performance security in 
accordance with the 
Conditions of Contract, in 
the Performance Security 
Form (Annexure 5) 
provided in the Bidding 
documents. The Value of 

The value of the 
performance security is at 
very higher side, considering 
the 10 % value of three year 
contract period. Request the 
bank to change it to 3 % of 
the contract period or the 10 
% of one year project cost, 
i.e. For the 6,00,000 volume. 

The RFP clause 15 in page 
no.12  is to be read as: 
On receipt of notification of 
award from the Bank, the 
successful bidder shall furnish 
the performance security in 
accordance with the Conditions 
of contract, in the performance 
security form (Annexure 5) 
provided in the Bidding 
Documents. The value of the 
Performance Security will be 10 
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                               Annexure I - Clarifications of vendo r’s queries on the Bid document.  

  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

the Performance Security 
will be 10% of 
the estimated Project 
cost i.e, L1 Price x 18, 
00,000 x 0.1 

% of the estimated 1 year 
project cost. i.e, L1 Price x 
18,00,000 x 0.1.  
 
The RFP clause 16.10 in page  
no.13 is to be read as: 
Letter of Intent (LOI) will be 
issued soon after the selection 
of the bidder. The purchase 
order will be issued and the 
service provider has to sign the 
contract and submit the 
performance bank guarantee 
as per the terms of clause 
no.15 in page no.12  
 
The RFP clause 4.1 in page  
no.15 is to be read as: 
 
On Signing the contract, the L1 
bidder shall furnish to the bank 
the performance security as per 
the terms of clause no.15.  
In page no.12 

14 13 16.9 Other terms and 
conditions: 
16.9 The bidder will not 
subcontract any job 
without the prior approval 
of Indian bank. Indian 
Bank reserves the right 
to call regular meetings 
of the bidder 
/sub-contractor(s) during 
the tenure of the 
contract.  

1. Bank has referred in the 
RFP the bidder can get the 
Card procurement, 
personalization, stuffing and 
dispatch of cards done from 
the partners / third party. 
Trust this clause is 
applicable for activities other 
than the above. 

It is applicable for all the jobs 
under the scope of work. 
 
 
 

2. We being the primary 
owner for the bid any 
communication to the 
subcontractor should be 
through the prime bidder and 
not otherwise. 

Contract will be entered into 
with L1 bidder.  

15 14 3 Indemnity clause and 
patent rights: 
3.1 The Service provider 
shall indemnify the Bank 
against all third-party 
claims of 
infringement of patent, 

Kindly provide the indemnity 
agreement format. Also there 
is no limitation on the 
Indemnity. We request the 
bank to limit the bidder’s 
liability. 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.  
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                               Annexure I - Clarifications of vendo r’s queries on the Bid document.  

  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

trademark or industrial 
design rights arising from 
use of the Goods, 
services or any part 
thereof. 

16 16 8 Payment: 
i. Card management 
service charges will be 
paid monthly on 
submission of the 
monthly invoices after 
deduction of penalties if 
any. TDS will be 
deducted from the above 
payment, wherever 
applicable. 

Regarding the payments, 
request you to provide clarity 
for the same. For example: 
bank to provision 
procurement of plastic and 
stationery to be paid in 
advance during order 
placement. 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.  

17 17 10 Section III-Conditions of 
contract- Liquidated 
Damages: 
The bidder has to 
necessarily comply with 
time schedule as 
provided in  
Annexure 9 for the 
following: 
A. Setting up the entire 
infrastructure and human 
resources at Bank’s 
Premises at Chennai and 
starting operations with 
the new debit card 
management system. 
B. Migration of the 
existing card data base 
to new Debit card  
management software. 
C. Dispatch and Delivery 
of Cards and PIN mailers 
on regular basis. 

1. Same timelines applicable 
for photo debit cards, smart 
cards & other special cards 
also? 

YES 
 

2. Kindly note that the period 
of completion of both A or B 
or both is very less, since the 
file and file format is to be 
understood for data 
migration and we need to 
look at procurement of 
hardware and related 
softwares as well as 
implementation of the entire 
system at Bank’s premises. 
Request to increase the 
timelines to 90 days. 

Please adhere to the time 
schedules and penalty amounts 
mentioned in the RFP clause 
10 in page No. 17. Annexure 9 
is only for the bidder to detail 
his migration plan.    
 
 



7 

 

                               Annexure I - Clarifications of vendo r’s queries on the Bid document.  

  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

18 18 13 Section III-Conditions of 
contract-Termination for 
convenience 
 
13.1 The Bank, by 
written notice sent to the 
Service Provider, may 
terminate the 
Contract, in whole or in 
part, at any time for its 
convenience. The notice 
of termination shall 
specify that termination is 
for the Bank’s 
convenience, the extent 
to which performance of 
the Service Provider 
under the Contract is 
terminated, and the date 
upon which such 
termination becomes 
effective. 

Considering that the bidder 
will be incurring significant 
investments on resources 
and infrastructure to meet 
the Bank’s requirement, 
Termination should be 
possible only in the event of 
an uncured breach and not 
for convenience. 
 
In the event of Termination, 
Bank shall purchase the 
blank plastics and for the 
orders placed with the 
various vendors to meet the 
orders placed by the Bank 
on the bidder. 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.  

19 20 16 Installation: 
 
The Service Provider is 
responsible for all 
unpacking, assembling, 
wiring, installations, 
cabling between 
hardware units, 
connecting to power 
supplies and installation 
of software. The Service 
Provider has to test all 
hardware and software 
operations and 
accomplish all 
adjustments necessary 
for successful and 
continuous operation of 
the hardware at the 
installation sites. Data / 
electrical cabling will be 
done by the Bank. 
Service Provider has to 
provide the power cables 

For 24/7 power whether 
UPS, Generator etc is 
provided by the Bank 

Bank will handle the power 
management for the jobs done 
at Bank’s premises. 
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                               Annexure I - Clarifications of vendo r’s queries on the Bid document.  

  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

required to install the 
systems being supplied. 

20 21 1.i Section IV- Eligibility 
Criteria 
 
i. The organization 
should have minimum 2 
years of experience in 
the area of debit card 
management. 

1. Could you please clarify 
as to for what scope of 
work/services, in part or 
whole, within the RFP does 
the Bank wish the bidding 
Organization to have 
minimum 2 years 
experience? 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.  

2. Can it be the Prime 
bidder/consortium partner 
should have minimum 2 
years of experience in the 
area of debit card issuance? 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.    

3. Considering our vast 
experience in the field of 
Debit Card related activities, 
we request you to relax 
Clause no. 1 in the Eligibility 
Criteria section to read as 
under –                                                                          
‘The Organization should 
have minimum 1 year 
experience in the area of 
debit card management. 
We sincerely hope that you 
would take our request into 
consideration and give us a 
fair opportunity to participate 
in your RFP. 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.    

4. Will you be keen on 
allowing System Integrators 
like us to participate for this 
bid? Since we do not have 
expertise in providing debit 
card management solutions, 
can we partner with an 
existing service provider and 
put in a bid. It would not be a 
consortium bid, we would be 
the prime bidder. Some of 
the eligibility criteria would 
need to be modified to read 
as ‘bidder/partner’ instead of 
‘bidder’. 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.  
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                               Annexure I - Clarifications of vendo r’s queries on the Bid document.  

  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

21 21 1.v Section IV- Eligibility 
Criteria 
 
The organization should 
be currently providing 
debit card management 
services to at least 2 
banks in India. 

1. Would the bank also look 
at references from banks 
outside India as well? 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.   
 

2. We hope this not only 
applies to the outsourcing 
model but also capex model, 
where the Banks have been 
using our software & 
services for issuing debit 
cards to its customers? 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.   

22 21 1.vi Section IV- Eligibility 
Criteria 
 
The bidder should have 
the capability to 
personalize, print and 
dispatch at least 30000 
cards per day and should 
have supplied minimum 
5 lakhs cards to its 
clients. Documentary 
proofs should be 
submitted. 

1. Kindly reconfirm the 
quantity mentioned in the 
criteria. 

As per RFP terms. 

2. We assume this is either 
the bidder or the partner. 
(Card supplier). 

If the bidder   subcontracts the 
job of card   personalisation, 
printing and dispatch, the sub 
contractor should have the 
capability mentioned in the RFP 
clause.  

23 22 2 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Setting up the 
infrastructure. 

.The bank will provide 
office space and the 
network infrastructure to 
connect various systems 
within the bank network. 
The service provider has 
to arrange the application 
software, Web portal, 
database, related 
hardware including 
servers and PCs, 
security modules like 
HSM and any other 
equipment required for 
encryption and 
decryption of data, 
printers, printer 
cartridges, ribbons, 
scanners and any other 

1. Understand that Bank had 
asked the Bidder to provide 
all the Infrastructure like 
Servers, HSM etc., at On-
Site for doing the Card 
Operations. Shall we have 
the Infrastructure like 
Servers & HSM in our Data 
Center and perform the 
Operations at on-site using 
remote services? Or shall we 
use the bank existing 
Infrastructure like Servers & 
HSM for implementing our 
system and provide services 
at on-site. 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. To estimates the resource 
requirement to answer the 
queries / resolution of any 
issues, request the bank to 
mention the daily queries / 
complaint received on 
average basis. 

Per day 50 to 70 enquiries on 
an average. 
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  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

peripherals. The server 
used should be with 
RAID5 configuration to 
ensure data redundancy 

.Service provider has to 
arrange sufficient 
infrastructure and human 
resources to process 
7500 card requests, to 
emboss and dispatch 
7500 cards and to print 
20000 PIN mailers daily 
on an average and also 
to answer the e-mails 
and calls (related to ATM 
card and PIN mailer) 
received from branches 
or customers in the 
telephone systems 
provided by the Bank. 
The infrastructure 
Including the system and 
Human resources should 
be scalable to cater to 
the increase in the 
number of card and PIN 
requests to be processed 
daily. 

3. Bank to confirm that office 
space includes rack space to 
mount servers and other 
rack-mounted equipment. 

Office space will be provided for 
the service provider to fix the 
service provider's rack. 
 

4. Will it be linked to your 
existing phone banking 
system or is this 
independent? 

Bank will provide analog phone 
lines. 

5. Whether call center to be 
established? If yes, then 
connectivity between the 
DCMS and CBS/ATM switch 
will it be provided with read 
only permission of CBS and 
Hotlisting/Unblocking to ATM 
switch for real time access. 

Not Applicable.  

The Blank plastic cards, card 
pouches, envelopes, blank 
PIN mailers etc can be 
stored in the card vendor’s 
premises for convenience & 
cost benefits 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.    

24 22 1 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Migration: 
 
The migration activity 
should be completed 
within 1 month from 
issuing the purchase 
order. 

1 month is too short a period 
for data migration. Request 
for increase in the time 
frame. 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.   

25 23 2.1.1 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Intranet web 
portal: 
 
At present, we have 
around 1920 branches 
and 30 zonal offices 
situated across India. 
There will be a minimum 

Currently how many users 
are there per branch 

Present, bank uses internally 
developed web portal where 
every employee of the bank 
has an user id.  
 
Users will be limited based on 
the job roles allotted within the 
branch.  
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Bank's response  

of 800 concurrent 
sessions during the bank 
working hours. 

26 23 2.1.3 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Intranet web portal 
 
Provision for branches to 
submit the requests for 
Biometric cards, photo 
cards (including photo 
and signature uploading 
facility), Hotlisting of 
cards, re-issue of cards, 
re-issue of PIN and any 
other requests for 
modification, such as 
home branch change, 
Name correction, 
Account type change and 
modification of any filed 
other than daily limit. 

1. Request the bank to 
provide more details on 
biometric cards. 
 

There are Debit cards issued to 
Self Help Groups and Visually 
Challenged customers without 
PIN number 

2. Please clarify whether the 
request for Biometric cards 
are chip based cards or 
NPCI Aadhaar cards? 
 

At present the biometric cards 
are proprietary, Magnetic-stripe 
based cards.  In future bank 
may issue Adhaar based or 
Chip based biometric cards. 

3. We assume, the only 
difference is that the PIN 
generation will be skipped in 
the card issuance process. 
 

Card number prefix, card 
design and brand will also 
change for biometric cards. 

27 24 3 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Procurement of 
blank plastic cards: 
 
The Service Provider 
shall be responsible to 
procure and store blank 
plastic cards, blank chip 
based smart cards, card 
pouches, blank PIN 
mailers, envelopes, cloth 
covers, Address labels 
and related stationary to 
dispatch the cards and 
PIN mailers. Blank PIN 
mailers should be 
procured only from the 
vendors approved / 
empanelled by IBA 
(Indian Banks 
Association). Blank 
plastic cards should be 
procured only from 
manufacturers approved 
by Master Card and 

1. What is the bifurcation of 
VISA / Maestro / Master card 
/ or any other card issuance 
on monthly basis? 

Bank is not issuing any VISA 
debit cards at present.  
Bank issues 1.5 lakhs cards per 
month. The proposed issuance 
of cards is as per the price 
weightage given in annexure 
14.                                                               

2. What are the 
specifications for the EMV 
cards? In terms of capacity 
and how many applications 
bank is expecting to have on 
card? Is bank also expecting 
the combo card along with 
the chip cards? 

EMV specifications will be as 
per EMV standards. Card 
should be capable enough to 
accommodate more than one 
application on it. Bidder has to 
supply EMV cards with 64 Kb 
chip. Combo cards are 
expected along with the chip 
cards. 

3. When is the bank 
expecting to start issuing the 
EMV cards and what are the 
volumes expected to be 
issued on an annual basis? 

                                                                                                      
As of now, there is no 
immediate requirement. 
However, The service provider 
should be capable of starting 
the issuance of EMV cards by 
the 61st day after the bank 
issuing purchase order.  

4. Owing to price Please adhere to the RFP 
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Bank's response  

VISA. 
 
 

considerations, request the 
bank to provide the minimum 
order quantity for each type 
of card.  

clause.  

5. Will the bank provide the 
break-up for all the variants 
or will there be a minimum 
commitment on a single 
variant. 

There will not be any 
commitment on the minimum 
volume.      

6. Are smart cards being 
issued currently? If not now, 
is there any timelines fixed 
for it in the future. 

As of now, there is no 
immediate requirement. 
However, The service provider 
should be capable of starting 
the issuance of EMV cards by 
the 61st day after the bank 
issuing purchase order. 

28 26 3.3 Section V-Scope of 
Work-Specification  for 
Debit card pin mailer 
stationery 

Are the specifications 
mentioned in the section 3.3, 
page 27 for the Internet 
banking PINs? Kindly 
confirm. 

Section 3.3 in Page No.27 is to 
be read as: Specifications for 
Internet banking PIN mailer 
stationary. 

29 26 3.1 (b) Section V-Scope of 
Work- Procurement of 
blank plastic cards: 
 
Bank reserves the right 
to change the colour and 
design of the cards at 
any time with approval 
from Master Card and 
VISA.  

The bank should inform the 
vendor in advance as there 
is an inventory of existing 
cards. Also the changes will 
have a price impact which 
has to be agreed upon by 
the bank. 

Bank will inform the vendor in 
advance without changing any 
other terms and conditions of 
the RFP. 

30 27 4 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Issuance of cards 
The service provider 
should comply with all 
the specifications and 
conditions set by VISA 
and Master Card 
International while 
issuing debit cards. The 
Service Provider should 
not restrict or limit the 
number of cards or 
number of card types 
(BINs or card prefixes) 
that can be issued under 

1. We assume extra card, 
extra PIN mailer or related 
components sent due to the 
customer’s or Bank’s fault 
will be chargeable as per the 
agreed cost. 
 
 

Bank will pay for duplicate card 
and PIN mailers issued to the 
customers on account of 
customers’ fault, expiry etc. 
Bank will not pay for items re-
issued due to manufacturing 
defects, courier agencies’ fault 
etc.   

3. Also provide the current 
proportion of issuing the 
personalized and non-
personalized cards and the 
future plans. 

At present, 1.23 lakhs Nos of 
Personalised cards and  
27000 Nos of Non personalised 
cards with account number 
(CDPC) approximately per 
month. 
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                               Annexure I - Clarifications of vendo r’s queries on the Bid document.  

  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

their debit card 
management solution. 

 

31 27 4.1 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Issuance of cards 

Please explain the following- 
1. Packaging and 
dispatching process for the 
personalized cards in details, 
including the required 
stationery.  

 
 
Please refer the RFP clause.                       
 

2. Our understanding is that 
all cards and pins are 
dispatched to branches. In 
case of non-personalized 
cards, does the card and 
PIN go in a welcome kit? 

Non-Personalized cards and 
PIN mailers will go separately 
to Centralised Data Processing 
Centres (CDPC).  Welcome kit 
preparation is done at CDPC.                                                                            

32 28 4.1.3 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Issuance of cards: 
 
The service provider 
should send 
Acknowledgement for the 
data file. 

What type of 
acknowledgement is 
expected by the Bank? 

E-mail acknowledgement. 

33 29 4.1.5 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Issuance of cards: 
 
The debit card 
management system 
should be capable of 
embossing the 
cardholder name in 
English, Hindi and  
regional languages, if 
required by the bank. 

1. Please clarify whether the 
Embossing of card holder 
name in Hindi or Regional 
languages, is a mandatory 
requirement? 

It is not an immediate 
requirement. Please adhere to 
the RFP clause. 

2. Would the display name 
be provided by Host in 
Unicode format for Hindi and 
other regional languages? 

Bank will provide the necessary 
files or images to be printed in 
Hindi/regional languages. 

3. It is recommended that no 
file is generated for printing 
PIN mailers. The PIN 
generation would be through 
HSM and not stored within 
the system. Trust the PIN file 
referred by the Bank is the 
PIN offset that is to be 
uploaded in the switch. 
Kindly clarify. 

We are referring to the 
additional data to be printed on 
the PIN mailer. 

34 30 4.1.13 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Issuance of cards 
 
After embossment / 
generation of the cards, 
the vendor must have a 

Request the bank to provide 
the format of the 
undertaking. 

Simple undertaking letter 
format for deletion of the 
emboss files.  
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                               Annexure I - Clarifications of vendo r’s queries on the Bid document.  

  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

Mechanism in place to 
ensure that the emboss 
files are deleted. Under 
taking letter should be 
submitted by the service 
provider. 

35 30 4.1.15 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Issuance of cards 
 
Eventhough the Bank is 
not sending debit cards 
or PIN mailers directly 
to the customers, the 
Service provider should 
have a facility in their 
debit card management 
software to print 
welcome letter for 
customers. 

We assume that currently 
the welcome letters are not 
part of scope. In future, in 
case of printing the welcome 
letter, the cost of stationery 
and printing cost will be paid 
by bank separately or will 
provide the printed welcome 
letter to vendors location, 
where the insertion will 
happen. Also, we assume 
that the any additional 
stationery will be provided by 
bank or cost of the same will 
be borne by the bank.   

Rates will be fixed on mutual 
agreement in case this service 
is implemented. 

36 30 4.1.16 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Issuance of cards 
 
The service provider 
should Dispatch the 
branch wise sealed cloth 
covers through courier / 
post to our branches, 
and should send the soft 
copy of the Branch wise 
PAN generation report 
and courier / postal 
dispatch details through 
e-mail to our branches. 

Whether Bank will bear the 
Courier Cost & responsibility 
of Courier? As per the 
standard, the Card Liability 
should be with Bank and not 
with the Bidder 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause. 

37 30 4.1.18 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Issuance of cards 
 
The service provider 
should bear the cost of 
dispatching the cards 
and PIN mailers to our 
branches. Service 
provider should ensure 
that all the consignments 
are delivered in the 

The bank has around 2000 
branches, geographically 
spread across all part of the 
India. It is very difficult 
estimate the cost of the 
dispatch. Hence, request the 
bank, to appoint its own 
dispatch agency and bear 
the cost of dispatch. Or, if 
the bidder is ready to appoint 
dispatch agency and bank 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.    
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  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

branches promptly in 
time. 

agreeing to pay the cost of 
dispatch on actuals. 
 
Also, in future, if bank 
decides to change the 
process of dispatch by 
sending the pin or cards to 
customers or both to 
customers, without much 
conflict of interest between 
the bank and bidder, bank 
can change the process of 
dispatch. 
 
It will help the bidder to 
quote the per card price with 
more accuracy and hence 
would benefit the bank. 
 
Also, the quality of delivery 
will improve and bank can 
leverage on existing dispatch 
agency for reach and 
serviceability. 

38 30 4.1.15 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Issuance of cards 
 
Eventhough the Bank is 
not sending debit cards 
or PIN mailers directly 
to the customers, the 
Service provider should 
have a facility in their  
debit card management 
software to print 
welcome letter for 
customers. 

Welcome letters can be 
printed during card 
embossing. Why is it 
required in card 
management application? 

Required for printing individual 
welcome letters with customers’ 
name and address. Service 
provider can decide on how 
and where to print the welcome 
letter.  

39 31 4.3.2 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Issuance of cards 
 
The service provider 
should be able to issue 
duplicate cards of any 
type 
(Master/Maestro/VISA/ 
Rupay / Proprietary/ RRB 

While the Service provider 
will be able to issue the 
cards based on the Bank’s 
requirement, we assume that 
the Bank will pay in 
accordance to the new type 
of card issued. 

Bank will pay for the new card 
type issued based on the prices 
quoted during bid submission. 
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  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

/ Smart Cards or 
any other Co-branded 
cards) irrespective of the 
type of Hotlisted / 
captured / damaged card 
against which the 
duplicate card in issued, 
based on the Bank’s 
requirement. Example: 
Issuing VISA card 
against a Hotlisted 
Master Card and vice 
versa. 

40 32 4.3.3 Section V-Scope of 
Work- Issuance of cards 
 
Add-on cards are cards 
issued as a second card 
for the existing cards, 
with a different card 
number, PIN number, 
Card verification values, 
and Display name etc. 
The requests for Add-on 
cards will be sent by the 
branches through the 
intranet web portal. The 
service provider should 
process such requests 
and issue cards by 
complying with the terms 
and conditions 
mentioned above for 
issuing and dispatching 
personalized cards. The 
existing primary card 
should not be Hotlisted 
while issuing Add-On 
card. 

Is bank expecting to provide 
add-on card in the name of 
other family members of the 
card holder? 

YES 

41 33 5.2.3 Section V-Scope of 
Work- PIN mailer printing  
 
The PIN number should 
be generated in the 
HSM. HSM has to be 
arranged by the service 

Is HSM being used by the 
Bank currently for PIN 
generation. 

The present DCMS system 
handles the PIN generation. 
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  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

provider for PIN 
generation purpose. 

42 33 5.2.6 Section V-Scope of 
Work- PIN mailer printing  
 
Customer’s Account 
number, Debit Card 
number, Mobile number, 
Address and branch 
code are to be printed on 
the PIN mailer along with 
the bank logo. 

Bank logo would be pre-
printed on the pin mailer 
stationery. Trust the bank is 
referring to the same. 

Bank logo should be available 
on the PIN mailer. 

43 34 5.2.12 Section V-Scope of 
Work- PIN mailer printing  
 
At present, the Bank is 
printing PIN mailers at 
the central location and 
dispatching them to 
respective branches. In 
case the bank decides to 
go for printing PIN 
mailers at the branches, 
the service provider 
should provide the facility 
in their debit card 
management software to 
implement the system of 
printing PIN mailers at 
the branches, at no extra 
cost to the 
Bank. 
 
 

1. The Printer is controlled 
by HSM for printing PIN 
mailers. Printing PIN mailers 
at various branches is not 
feasible and it will have 
impact on system 
performance also. What is 
the need for the Bank to 
consider PIN printing at 
branches? 
Also printing the pins at the 
branches may not be the 
viable option considering the 
cost related to separate 
HSM and pin printers 
required at each branch, the 
stationery stock 
maintenance at each 
location and tracking all the 
pin printing activities from 
multiple locations. 
Currently we are not sure 
about the number of 
branches where the pin 
mailer printing facility to be 
arranged. We request the 
bank to have the centralized 
pin printing facility or 
consider bearing the charges 
for creation of facility at the 
branches for PIN printing. 

Service provider should 
provide the facility in their debit 
card management software to 
implement the system of 
printing PIN mailers at the 
branches In case the bank 
decides to go for printing PIN 
mailers at the branches. 
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  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

2. The industry best practice 
is to generate and print PINs 
at one central location. In 
case bank want to print PIN 
mailers at branches this 
would require additional 
printer and HSM. To meet 
this requirement, bank will 
have to incur additional 
expenses for the printers 
and HSMs at desired 
branches. Currently we are 
providing end-to-end card 
management services to 
multiple banks, wherein Card 
Management Software is 
hosted from our DC and PIN 
generation and printing is 
also done from our 
premises. We request bank 
to consider PIN generation 
and printing to be done from 
the Bidder's premises and to 
amend the clause as 
appropriate. 

Service provider should 
provide the facility in their debit 
card management software to 
implement the system of 
printing PIN mailers at the 
branches In case the bank 
decides to go for printing PIN 
mailers at the branches. 
 

44 34 5.2.13 Section V-Scope of 
Work- PIN mailer printing 
 
Apart from debit card PIN 
mailers, the service 
provider should print and 
dispatch the PIN mailers 
for Net banking and 
Mobile banking 
passwords of the bank. 
These passwords will be 
generated by bank and 
the service provider will 
be given an excel file 
containing all CIFs 
(Customer Identification 
File) against which the 
passwords are generated 
and a web page to enter 
the CIFs one by one to 
print the passwords in 

Kindly confirm on the printing 
of Mobile banking password. 
Please clarify where to print 
the mobile banking 
password?. Or if it is to be 
printed on the separate pin, 
what are the specification of 
pin mailers and process of 
data flow, printing and 
dispatch? 

Specifications for Internet 
banking PIN mailers are 
applicable for mobile banking 
PIN mailers also.  
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  Sl 
No 

RF
P 
Pa
ge 
No 

RFP 
Point 
No. 

RFP Clause.  Query / Modification 
Requested 

Bank's response  

blank PIN mailers. The 
service provider should 
update the PIN mailer 
reference number 
against each CIF 
(Customer Identification 
File) in the excel file.  

45 36 6.2.1 Hotlisting and De-
Hotlisting of Cards 
 
The service provider will 
receive bulk card hotlist 
request from branches 
in the form of excel 
sheets containing 
account number, card 
number etc. Such files 
should be processed, 
and status should be 
informed to branches 
through Email. Also, CAF 
records with updated 
card status 
should be transmitted to 
EFT switch team in daily 
CAF file for 
modifications. 

Who will authenticate the 
requests and cannot be sent 
through email as per PCI-
DSS standards.  Time gap 
between receipt and 
updation in switch ? 
Potential to be misused. 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause. 

46 37 6.3.3 Report Generation 
 
For all the existing cards 
and new cards to be 
issued, the first 
transaction date and last 
transaction date should 
be updated in the debit 
card management 
software using the daily 
file received from the 
EFT switch. 

Request the bank to clarify 
the rational for capturing 
these dates. 

For providing the status / 
information to branches. 

47 37 6.3.4 Report generation 
 
The debit card 
management system 
should have data 
warehousing and 
trend analysis features. 

What are the bank’s 
expectation on the data 
warehousing and trend 
analysis requirements? 

The debit card management 
system should be able to 
provide various types of MIS 
reports for analyzing the trends 
and patterns of the card 
issuance. 
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48  38 5 Section VI 
TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS RELATED 
TO SCOPE OF WORK 
 
Any customizations to be 
done in the Debit card 
management solution to 
meet 
the requirement of the 
bank / IS Auditor / Mater 
Card / VISA / RBI / NPCI 
should be done free of 
cost throughout the 
contract period of 3 
years. 

As an industry practice, any 
customizations to be done in 
the DCMS system on 
account of a mandate by 
VISA/ Mastercard/RBI/NPCI 
is usually done free of cost 
by the service provider. 
However, any customization 
as per the requirement of the 
Bank, if not a major 
development effort can be 
covered free of cost for the 
contract period of 3 years. If 
a major development effort is 
required, then it should be 
fulfilled at an additional 
mutually agreed upon cost. 
For any customization 
required in the system to 
meet the requirement of any 
Bank appointed IS auditor, it 
should definitely be taken up 
at an additional cost by the 
service provider within the 
contract period. 
  
Kindly clarify and suggest. 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.    

49 38 6 Section VI 
TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS RELATED 
TO SCOPE OF WORK 
 
The Service provider 
should get their debit 
card management 
system and process 
audited from time to time 
as per the requirements 
of the Bank, VISA, 
Master Card, NPCI and 
Reserve Bank of India. 
Cost of such audits 
should be borne by the 
service provider 
throughout the period of 

1. As an Industry practice, 
any such audits which need 
to be done on the service 
provider to comply and 
adhere to VISA / Mastercard 
/ NPCI / RBI guidelines are 
borne by the service 
provider. However, the cost 
for any audit done on the 
service provider to meet the 
requirement of the Bank is 
borne by the Bank. The 
service provider only bears 
the cost of providing info to 
the auditors on tape drives / 
CD’s / other storage media, 
if required. Kindly suggest 
and clarify. 

Indian bank will bear the cost 
for the audit by the Bank. Cost 
of any other auditing on the 
card management software or 
process to be born by the 
service provider. 
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agreement. 2. The Card management 
solution will be hosted within 
the bank premises. Bidder 
may not have the control on 
all aspects of the audits, like 
the process followed by bank 
and internal network 
infrastructure and premises. 
Also, the type of audits, 
entities doing audits, 
frequency of audits and the 
cost associated with the 
same cannot be determined 
by the bidder. 
 
Hence request the bank to 
bear the cost of these audits, 
conducted in bank premises. 

Indian bank will bear the cost 
for the audit by the Bank's IS 
auditor.  Cost of any other 
auditing on the card 
management software or 
process to be borne by the 
service provider. 
 

3. Hope it is applicable only 
for the card personalization 
process 

It is applicable for the entire 
debit card management system 

50 38 7 Section VI 
TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS RELATED 
TO SCOPE OF WORK 
 
Proper Back up policy 
and DR plan for the card 
management solution: 
The Debit card 
management Software 
provided by the Service 
provider should take care 
of hot and cold backup 
and proper recovery 
measures 
should be in place. 
Service provider shall 
also provide to the Bank 
two sets of DAT backup 
of the entire database on 
a weekly basis. 

Can the recovery measure 
be provisioned within the 
same site, using servers in 
Highly-Available (HA) 
configuration? 
 
In case of a separate site for 
DR, request the bank to 
provide the location of the 
DR site? Also request the 
bank to clarify if the bidder 
needs to factor for the switch 
over of operations to the DR 
site in case of any disaster? 
If so what are the 
expectations in terms of time 
within which business 
continuity is to be provided 
from the DR site? 

Bidder can decide the methods 
of DR set up. Indian bank DR 
site is at Hyderabad. Business 
continuity has to be restored 
immediately. 

51 40 Annex
ure 1 

CHECK LIST FOR 
DOCUMENTS TO BE 
SUBMITTED 

Please clarify the numbering 
mentioned in the Index of 
Annexure 1  

Please read numbers in the 
ascending order from 1 to 21   
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52 84 Annex
ure 14 

Commercial Bid 1. Request the bank not to 
include the cost of the Smart 
card as the EMV card 
issuance is not yet finalized 
and scope of the activities 
involved in the overall 
process of issuing card is not 
very clear. 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.                                          
 
 

2. Request the bank to 
clarify, how to treat the Repin 
issuance in the commercial 
aspects. 

Line items 7, 8, 9 and 10 will be 
applicable for Re-pin.                                                 
Also, please note that for All 
Line Items, the bidder should 
quote the actual cost of the 
line item. The weightage (%) 
calculation will be done by 
the Bank.  

3. Request the bank to 
include the cost of card life 
cycle management and 
support function 
management. 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.                        
 

4. The process/ activities 
involved in printing of PIN 
mailers for debit cards, 
internet banking and mobile 
banking are different. Hence 
request that bank provide 
separate line items to enable 
the bidder to quote for each 
of these separately. 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.                                              
 

5. What is the estimated 
volume of internet banking 
and mobile banking pin 
mailers to be printed on a 
daily basis? 

600 on an average.                                                                                             

6. Please clarify if the cost 
mentioned should be 
inclusive of taxes or 
exclusive of taxes? 

The costs are exclusive of 
taxes. 

7. Bidder is expected to 
quote the same commercial 
for blank plastic, perso and 
other requirements 
irrespective of the 
type/brand. This may not be 
possible as the input cost for 

Please adhere to the RFP 
clause.    
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master card and visa card 
will be different. 

 


